THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2015-000701
Circuit Court Case No.: 2014-CP-42-02846

RECEIVED

SEP 02 2015

SC Court of Appeals
Respondent

Paula Rose,

v.

Charles Homer Rose, II, Appellant.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Kim R. Varner
Varner & Segura
304 Pettigru Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 271-2232

J. Falkner Wilkes
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

Statement of the Issues ii

Table of Authorities iii

Statement of the Case 1

Statement of Facts 2

Argument

I. THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT RELIEF FROM DEFAULT WHERE
GOOD CAUSE WAS SHOWN..... 5

Conclusion 12

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1) Did the Court err in denying Defendant's motion to set aside default?
- 2) Does reversal and/or remand of the default issue require reversal and remand of the damages issue as well?

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Bage v. Southeastern Roofing Co. of Spartanburg, Inc., 373 S.C. 457, 646 S.E.2d 153, (Ct.App. 2007)	
Boland v. S.C. Public Service Authority, 281 S.C. 293, 315 S.E.2d 143 (Ct.App. 1984)	
Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Galvin, 288 S.C. 59, 339 S.E.2d 524 (Ct.App. 1986).	
Dixon v. Besco Eng'g, 320 S.C. 174, 178, 463 S.E.2d 636, 638 (Ct.App. 1995)	
Graham v. Town of Loris, 272 S.C. 442, 248 S.E.2d 594 (1978)	
Harbor Island Owners' Ass'n v. Preferred Island Props., Inc., 369 S.C. 540, 544, 633 S.E.2d 497, 499 (2006)	
Howard v. Holiday Inns, Inc., 271 S.C. 238, 246 S.E.2d 880 (1978)	
In re Estate of Weeks, 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E.2d 454, 459 (Ct.App. 1997)	
Limehouse v. Hulsey, 404 S.C. 93 (2013)	
Mann v. Walker, 285 S.C. 194, 328 S.E.2d 659 (Ct.App. 1985)	
McClurg v. Deaton, 395 S.C. 85 (2011)	
Mictronics, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue, 345 S.C. 506, 511, 548 S.E.2d 223, 226 (Ct.App. 2001)	
Mitchell Supply Co. v. Gaffney, 297 S.C. 160, 163, 375 S.E.2d 321, 322 (Ct.App.1988)	
New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. Bey Corp., 312 S.C. 47, 435 S.E.2d 377 (Ct.App. 1993)	
Ricks, 293 S.C. 372, 360 S.E.2d 535	
Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc., 383 S.C. 601, 681 S.E.2d 885 (2009)	
Thompson, 299 S.C. at 120,382 S.E.2d at 903	
Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc., 298 S.C. 462, 381 S.E.2d 499 (Ct.App. 1989)	

RULES

Rule 55(c), SCRCF.....

Rule 60, SCRCF

Rule 5(c)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties were married at the time this action was initiated. This action was commenced by the filing of a Summons and Complaint on October 2, 2014. The Defendant was served on October 6, 2014. On December 19, 2014 the Defendant filed an Affidavit of Default and Motion for Damages Hearing. On January 20, 2014 the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Enlargement of Time and to Set Aside Any Default; a Memorandum in support of the motion; and an Answer.

T. Ryan Langley, Charles J. Hodge, N. Douglas Brannon, and Christopher D. Kennedy represented the Plaintiff/Respondent below. Kim R. Varner represented the Defendant/Appellant below. J. Falkner Wilkes and Kim R. Varner represent Appellant on appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent, Paula Rose, sued her husband, Homer Rose, in a circuit court action for damages based on a claim of assault and battery. Mr. Rose was served with the summons and complaint on October 6th of 2014. Shortly after receiving the complaint Mr. Rose met with his divorce counsel who then forwarded a copy of the summons and complaint to Mr. Rose's insurance company. T. p. 7. In late October Mr. Rose returned to his divorce counsel's office to follow up on the case and discovered that the insurance company had taken no action on the summons and complaint claiming that Mr. Rose had failed to make a "formal claim". (T. p. 7; Affidavit para 7). Learning this Mr. Rose immediately called his agent and made a "formal claim" with the insurance company so that it could act on the summons and complaint. (T. p. 7, Affidavit para 7). Mr. Rose's divorce counsel then notified Mrs. Rose's counsel of the situation with the insurance carrier and requested an extension of time in which to answer. (Affidavit para 8). The affidavit of Mr. Rose's counsel indicates that Plaintiff's counsel consented to the request for an extension. (Affidavit para 8). Plaintiff's counsel, although admitting to having a discussion about the situation with the insurance company, denied ever having granted an extension in which to answer the complaint. (Affidavit Brannon).

The insurance company subsequently notified Mr. Rose that they would not provide coverage nor defend under a reservation of rights. (T. p. 8; Affidavit para 9). Near the end of time the complaint was due a medical condition arose and Mr. Rose was hospitalized. (Order p. 2 of 7). Mr. Rose required surgery and almost died. T. p. 8. During the time Mr. Rose was in the hospital, Mrs. Rose came to visit him regularly. T. p. 8. Photos show Mr. and

Mrs. Rose at the hospital together. T. p. 8; (5 color photos). In the photos of Mr. and Mrs. Rose at the hospital the parties appear to have reconciled their differences. During this time Mrs. Rose was assuring Mr. Rose that she was dropping the lawsuit. (T. p. 8; Affidavit Varner para 14; Affidavit Homer Rose; Text messages; Email January 19, 2015). Mrs. Rose's assurances that she would drop the case began even prior to Mr. Rose's admittance to the hospital. (T. p. 8-10).

In December when Mr. Rose was released from the hospital he was heavily medicated. (T. p. 9). During Mr. Rose's hospitalization through his convalescence and up to January 17th Mrs. Rose repeatedly assured Mr. Rose that the lawsuit was or would be dropped. (T. p. 8; Affidavit Varner para 14; Affidavit Homer Rose; Text messages; Email January 19, 2015).

On January 19th, in what appears to be a "suicide note," Mrs. Rose rambles that she did not want to sue him, that she did not intend to, and that it was her fault that she didn't stand up to the lawyers. (T. p. 9; Ex. Email January 19, 2015). Once it became clear from the January 19th email that Mrs. Rose might not dismiss the action as she had repeatedly promised, Mr. Rose immediately (January 20th) filed a motion to set aside the default and enlarge the time to answer the complaint. (Motion). At the same time Mr. Rose also filed an answer to the complaint. (Answer). The motion to set aside the default and the damages hearing were each set to be heard on the same day. At the hearing the trial court denied Mr. Rose's motion to set aside the default, took testimony as to damages, and awarded Mrs. Rose \$149,016.00, \$111,762 of which were punitive damages. (T. p. 1-183; Order).

In its order the trial court recognized the complicated relationship between Mr. and Mrs. Rose, as well as problematical nature of the text messages from Mrs. Rose to Mr. Rose. (Order p. 3 of 7). While the court appears to have recognized Mr. Rose's reliance on Mrs. Rose's assurances that she was not pursuing the case, it nevertheless failed to grant relief from the default. (Order p. 3 of 7).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT RELIEF FROM DEFAULT WHERE GOOD CAUSE WAS SHOWN.

The standard for granting relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) is mere "good cause." Rule 55(c), SCRPC. "This standard requires a party seeking relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice." Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc., 383 S.C. 601, 607, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009).

"Once a party has put forth a satisfactory explanation for the default, the trial court must also consider: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted." *Id.* at 607-08, 681 S.E.2d at 888. The decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely within the sound discretion of the circuit court. Harbor Island Owners' Ass'n v. Preferred Island Props., Inc., 369 S.C. 540, 544, 633 S.E.2d 497, 499 (2006). The circuit court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. Mitchell Supply Co. v. Gaffney, 297 S.C. 160, 163, 375 S.E.2d 321, 322 (Ct.App.1988). An abuse of discretion occurs when the judgment is controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support. In re Estate of Weeks, 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E.2d 454, 459 (Ct.App.1997). In this case record shows that the trial court's ruling was both, controlled by an error of law and is without evidentiary support.

The *good cause* standard of Rule 55(c) requires, as a threshold burden, a party to put forth "an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default entry

would serve the interests of justice." Here, the record shows a number of factors that, in combination, sufficiently explain why Mr. Rose failed to file a timely answer. Initially, Mr. Rose acted timely in taking the summons and complaint to his divorce lawyer who immediately forwarded the complaint to Rose's insurance company. Again, Rose acted timely by returning to his divorce attorney's office within a few weeks to follow up on the complaint. When it was discovered that the insurance company had taken no action on the complaint due to some technicality, Rose again acted immediately to cure the problem so as to allow the insurance company to act on the complaint. When the insurance company denied coverage and defense, Rose's divorce counsel acted immediately to request an extension from the Plaintiff's counsel. Mr. Rose was told that he had an extension to answer the complaint. Then, near the end of the time the answer was due, Mr. Rose nearly died and was hospitalized for emergency surgery. While Mrs. Rose was visiting him in the hospital she assured Mr. Rose that she would be dropping the case. She continued to assure Mr. Rose that the case was, or would be dropped, up to January 19, 2015, when she wrote the rambling suicide note stating that she didn't have the strength to "stand up" to her attorneys. After the January 19th email raised suspicion as to Mrs. Rose's true intent, Mr. Rose immediately filed a motion for relief along with an answer to the complaint.

As found by the trial judge, Mr. Rose entered the hospital near the end of the time the answer was due. Possibly before, but no later than the time of Mr. Rose's hospitalization, Ms. Rose began a pattern of repeatedly assuring Mr. Rose that the case would be dismissed. These repeated assurances by Mrs. Rose that she would not proceed with the case, whether fraud or misrepresentation, are each a specifically identified basis

for relief of default under Rule 60. Any ground for relief under Rule 60 is also a ground for relief under Rule 55:

It is often observed, as the court of appeals held in the present case, that the criteria for obtaining relief from judgment under Rule 60(b) — mistake, inadvertence, excusable neglect, surprise, newly discovered evidence, fraud, misrepresentation — are relevant in determining whether good cause has been shown under Rule 55(c), SCRCP. See New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. Bey Corp., 312 S.C. 47, 50, 435 S.E.2d 377, 378-79 (Ct.App. 1993) (holding that, "as a practical matter," the 60(b) factors are relevant under both rules). However, we caution that this language invites trial courts to apply a heightened standard to Rule 55(c) motions. The Rule 60(b) factors are indeed relevant to a Rule 55(c) analysis, but only inasmuch as proof of any one of these factors is sufficient to show "good cause." No trial court should ever find good cause lacking based solely on the absence of a Rule 60(b) factor.

Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc., 383 S.C. 601, 607, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009).

Because the showing required under Rule 55 is less than that required in Rule 60, the misleading assurances by Mrs. Rose, even if not rising to the level of relief individually, require relief when taken in combination with all other factors. In addition to the misrepresentations by Mrs. Rose that she would drop the case, Mr. Rose had been told that he had an extension of time in which to answer. He then suffered severe medical problems requiring surgery and hospitalization prior to the end of the time he reasonably believed the complaint was due. Mrs. Rose made repeated assurances during Mr. Rose's convalescence, while he was heavily medicated. The assurances continued through January 17th, when she again indicated that she could "call this off". On January 19th, realizing from the "suicide note" that Mrs. Rose may not be abandoning the case, Mr. Rose immediately filed an answer to the complaint and motion for Rule 55 relief.

But for the delays caused by outside influences, Mr. Rose took timely and appropriate action at every juncture. He was reasonable in his reliance on the insurance company and his divorce attorney. He acted promptly when he discovered a problem and was told that he had an extension just prior to his hospitalization. There was clearly confusion amongst his divorce attorney and the insurance company. Although that alone would not require relief, it is relevant when combined with all other factors. "Although the presence of other factors, in the totality of the circumstances, may amount to a showing of "good cause," a defendant may not be relieved from the entry of default solely because it relied to its detriment on a negligent insurance agent. See Ricks, 293 S.C. 372, 360 S.E.2d 535 (holding that good cause was shown in the totality of circumstances involving misplaced reliance on insurance agent)." Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedg Indus., Inc., 383 S.C. 601, 681 S.E.2d 885 (2009). Given the totality of the circumstances, Mr. Rose clearly met the satisfactory explanation requirement of Wham and Rule 55 SCRPC. The trial court's ruling to the contrary is unsupported by the record.

Under Rule 55(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, a default may be set aside "for good cause shown." Rule 55(c) should be "liberally construed to promote justice and dispose of cases on the merits." Bage v. Southeastern Roofing Co. of Spartanburg, Inc., 373 S.C. 457, 471, 646 S.E.2d 153, 160 (Ct.App. 2007), *cert. granted* (Mar. 20, 2008). Public policy favors the disposition of cases "on their merits rather than on technicalities." Micronics, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue, 345 S.C. 506, 511, 548 S.E.2d 223, 226 (Ct.App. 2001) *citing* Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Galvin, 288 S.C. 59, 339 S.E.2d 524 (Ct.App. 1986). Rule 5(c) should be "liberally construed to promote justice and

dispose of cases on the merits." Dixon v. Besco Eng'g, 320 S.C. 174, 178, 463 S.E.2d 636, 638 (Ct.App. 1995); Ricks, 293 S.C. at 374-75, 360 S.E.2d at 536; *see also* Mann v. Walker, 285 S.C. 194, 328 S.E.2d 659 (Ct.App. 1985) (holding under the earlier statutory provisions for default judgment pursuant to section 15-27-130 of the 1976 Code of Laws of South Carolina, the rules dealing with default are liberally construed to see that justice is promoted and to strive for the disposition of cases on their merits). The trial court in this case failed to properly construe Rule 55. Its ruling is therefore controlled by an error of law as well as lacking in evidentiary support.

An abuse of discretion in setting aside an entry of default arises when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support. In re Estate of Weeks, 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E.2d 454, 459 (Ct.App. 1997); Boland v. S.C. Public Service Authority, 281 S.C. 293, 315 S.E.2d 143 (Ct.App. 1984). The trial court's ruling in this case, being supported by neither law nor fact, therefore constitutes an abuse of discretion.

Additional Factors for Relief

Due to the erroneous ruling that Mr. Rose had failed to provide a satisfactory explanation for his default the trial court failed to conduct an analysis of additional factors required for relief. Under a Rule 55 analysis, once a satisfactory explanation for the default has been shown, the court must consider the factors as set forth in Wham. *See* Sundown, 383 S.C. at 607-08, 681 S.E.2d at 888.

The factors as set forth in Wham:

(1) The timing of motion for relief;

Considering Mr. Rose's belief that he had been given a period of extension, the motion for relief was filed only six weeks after the answer would have been due. R. p. 11. During this time Mr. Rose was convalescing from his surgery and while being told repeatedly by Mrs. Rose that she was dropping the case. In light of the totality of the circumstances, Mr. Rose's delay was based on Mrs. Rose's actions and therefore, should not be considered against him, especially where he filed immediately after there was an indication by her that she might not "stand up to her lawyers" and dismiss the case as repeatedly promised.

(2) Whether the defendant has a meritorious defense;

Through his Answer, Motion, and Affidavits, as well as the audio recording of the alleged incident, the defense offered his version of the events denying the assault. T. p. 7. The audio recording would establish a defense to the allegations and thus is necessary to consider in the *Wham* factors. Despite having been presented the tape, and it having been played in open court, it appears the tape may not have been properly recorded or preserved for this Court's review. To the extent that the record does not allow this Court to fully evaluate the issue of a meritorious defense, a remand is necessary for further consideration by the trial court. Nevertheless, the Appellant submits there is a sufficient factual basis for this Court to determine that he has a meritorious defense.

To establish that he has a meritorious defense, a complainant need not show that he would prevail on the merits, only that his defense is meritorious. Thompson, 299 S.C. at 120,382 S.E.2d at 903. A meritorious defense need only be one "worthy of a hearing or

judicial inquiry because it raises a question of law deserving of some investigation or a real controversy as to real facts arising from conflicting or doubtful evidence." *Id.* (quoting Graham v. Town of Loris, 272 S.C. 442, 248 S.E.2d 594 (1978)). Here, the record shows sufficient evidence to establish a genuine question as to the allegations of assault and battery.

The record before the trial court was sufficient to establish a question of fact and thus meet the meritorious defense requirement.

In yet another case, the court of appeals found a meritorious defense in a party's prehearing statement. Mictronics, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't Rev., 345 S.C 506, 511, 548 S.E.2d 223, 226 (Ct.App. 2001). In so finding, the court reiterated that the standard for finding a party raised a meritorious defense is a low one. *Id.* ("To establish a meritorious defense, a party is not required to show an absolute defense."). Further research would likely reveal a multitude of similar cases. In my view, the key inquiry is merely whether the materials submitted to the trial court reflect, in any way, that a contest on the merits might render different results than the result reached by the default judgment.

McClurg v. Deaton, 395 S.C. 85 (2011), *Chief Justice Toal dissenting.*

Here, given Mr. Rose's version of the facts, as set forth in his affidavit, as well as audio tape of the proceedings, and other matter before the trial court, the record is sufficient to show that a contest on the merits might render different results.

(3) The degree of prejudice to the Plaintiff if relief is granted.

Here the delay was not significant. Even had an answer been filed, the Plaintiff's case would not have been able to proceed as Mr. Rose was in the hospital or recovering from surgery for a significant amount of the time at issue. Setting aside the default would not in any way prejudice the Plaintiff's ability to proceed with the case, present any

evidence, or avail herself of any procedure.


The record is sufficient for this Court to find the existence of additional factors set forth as set forth in Wham. Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc., 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501-02 (Ct.App. 1989). The trial court's ruling as to a sufficient reason for the delay was unsupported by facts and based on an error of law. The record therefore establishes a basis for a granting of relief by this Court. Policy favors a decision on the merits of a case rather than by default or technicalities. The decision of the trial court should therefore be reversed and the matter remanded for a trial on the merits.

The reversal of the lower court's ruling on default requires a reversal and remand of the damages award as well. Due to the finding of default in this case, defense counsel's participation limited to cross-examination and objection to plaintiff's evidence. Howard v. Holiday Inns, Inc., 271 S.C. 238, 246 S.E.2d 880 (1978). Howard still governs post-default proceedings. Limehouse v. Hulsey, 404 S.C. 93 (2013). Consequently, the erroneous ruling on default prejudiced Mr. Rose's ability to defend on the issue of damages. A reversal and remand on the default ruling therefore requires a reversal and remand of the damages award as well.

CONCLUSION

The trial court's denial of relief pursuant to Rule 55 should be reversed. The findings and award of punitive damages should also be reversed and remanded.