THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-42-02846
Appellate Case No. 2015-000701

RECEIVED
JAN 07 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Paula Rose,

Respondent,

v.

Charles Homer Rose, III,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Charles J. Hodge
T. Ryan Langiey
P.O. Box 2765
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 585-3873

Christopher D. Kennedy
N. Douglas Brannon
P.O. Box 3254
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 707-2020

Attorneys for Respondent

Dated: January 6, 2016
Spartanburg, South Carolina

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-42-02846
Appellate Case No. 2015-000701

Paula Rose,

Respondent,

v.

Charles Homer Rose, III,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Charles J. Hodge
T. Ryan Langley
Attorneys for the Appellants
P.O. Box 2765
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 585-3873

Dated: January 6, 2016
Spartanburg, South Carolina

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-42-02846
Appellate Case No. 2015-000701

Paula Rose,

Respondent,

v.

Charles Homer Rose, III,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Charles J. Hodge
T. Ryan Langley
Attorneys for the Appellants
P.O. Box 2765
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 585-3873

Dated: January 6, 2016
Spartanburg, South Carolina

(A) TABLE OF CONTENTS AND CASES

Statement of Issues on Appeal 3

Statement of the Case 3

Argument 4

 I. Facts 4

 II. Analysis and Citation of Authority 5

Conclusion 10

Dixon v. Besco Eng'g Inc., 463 S.E.2d 636, 639 (S.C. App. 1995) 6

Eli A. Poliakoff, Setting Aside Entries of Default: South Carolina Should Require a Reason, 54 S.C. L. Rev. 477, 480. 6

Griffith v. Griffith, 506 S.E.2d 526, 532 (S.C. App. 1998). 9

Roberson v. S. Fin. of S.C., Inc., 365 S.C. 6, 9, 615 S.E.2d 112, 114 (2005) 5

Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence, 456 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1995) 5

Rule 12(a) S.C.R.C. P. 8

Rule 55(c) S.C.R.C.P 5

Ricks v. Weinrauch, 293 S.C. 372, 374, 360 S.E.2d 535, 536 (Ct.App.1987) 10

Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedge Industries Inc. 681 S.E.2d 885 (S.C. 2009). . . . 5

Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc., 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501-02 (Ct.App.1989). 8

(B) STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The only issue on appeal to this Court is whether default should have been entered against Appellant.

(C) STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Respondent (hereinafter “Respondent”) filed this action for assault and battery against Defendant/Appellant (hereinafter “Appellant”) including allegations Appellant physically struck Respondent in the head multiple times with his handheld police radio on or about September 18, 2014. The Summons and Complaint in this matter were duly served on the Appellant on October 6, 2014. The appropriate affidavits of default were submitted to the court and default was entered pursuant to S.C.R.Civ.P. 55(a) on or about December 19, 2014. A damages hearing was scheduled for January 21, 2015. Upon receiving notice of the hearing, counsel for Respondent hand delivered notice of the hearing to Appellant and sent a courtesy copy to Appellant’s divorce counsel on or about January 13, 2015. Appellant failed to file any responsive pleading until January 20, 2015, one-hundred and seven (107) days after service, when Appellant filed an Answer and a Motion to Set Aside the Default. The Court heard extensive argument on the default issue, held the default issue in abeyance, and proceeded to a damages hearing. After hearing evidence at the damages hearing, the Court entered an Order on February 25, 2015 finding no good cause to set aside the default and further finding for the Plaintiff in the amount of \$37,254.00 in actual damages and \$111,762.00 in punitive damages. This is the Order from which Appellant appealed when he filed his notice of appeal on March 23, 2014.

(D) ARGUMENT

(D) I. Facts

Respondent filed this action against Appellant for assault and battery following an incident in which Appellant physically struck Respondent in the head multiple times with his handheld police radio on or about September 18, 2014. (R. pp. 8-10). Appellant admits that he was served with the summons and complaint on October 6, 2014. (Appellant Brief, p. 2). As indicia of the seriousness of the matter, Appellant was served at the Spartanburg County Sherriff's Office. (R. p. 11). No extension to answer was ever given. (R. pp. 41-42). It is undisputed that there is no documentation of any kind – email, letter, text message, or otherwise – that would meet the writing requirement of South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 6(b). (R. p. 53). Thus, the Answer was due no later than November 9, 2014. Appellant admits that he never filed any responsive pleading of any kind until January 20, 2015. (Appellant Brief, p. 3).

The Court moved forward into the damages hearing. Respondent called multiple witnesses, including a psychiatrist who diagnosed Respondent with PTSD following the assault by Appellant. Respondent also called Chaz Reed, Appellant's step-son, to the stand and he testified as to seeing a great deal of blood after hearing the screams of Respondent when she was struck with Appellant's police radio. (R. pp. 141-145). Reed also testified about how Appellant attempted to conceal his wrongdoing by hiding his shirt from the incident. (Id.). Appellant called no witnesses and did not take the stand because he would have pled his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination if he had taken the stand. (R. p. 211, line 21 to p. 212, line 6). The parties stipulated to certain things that Appellant would have testified to if he had taken the stand. Included in that

was that Appellant had a trust account with \$3.8 million dollars in it and that he received approximately \$146,800.00 from that account each year. (R. p. 213).

(D). II. Analysis and Citation of Authority

- a. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in ruling Appellant's negligence, miscommunications, and lack of diligence to hire counsel to timely answer the Complaint failed to demonstrate good cause to warrant relief from default.**

Under South Carolina law, the standard for granting relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) is "good cause." Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedge Industries Inc. 681 S.E.2d 885 (S.C. 2009). That standard requires a party seeking relief from an entry of default "to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default would serve the interest of justice." Id. at 888. The trial court's decision whether or not to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. Roberson v. S. Fin. of S.C., Inc., 365 S.C. 6, 9, 615 S.E.2d 112, 114 (2005).

It is well settled in South Carolina's jurisprudence that negligent handling or oversight of a properly served Complaint, by either the defendant or the defendant's agents does not constitute "good cause" to justify setting aside entry of default. See, Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence, 456 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1995) (upholding trial court's entry of default where "[l]osing a summons and complaint within the corporation" offered as reason to set default aside); Sundown Operating Co., Inc., *supra*, 681 S.E.2d at 889 (defaulting corporate defendant failed to show good cause for relief from an entry of default where registered agent forwarded the suit papers to company's manager, manager

forwarded the complaint to the vice-president, and vice-president telephoned the company's insurer about the lawsuit but did not forward the complaint to its insurer or follow-up until several days after the time to answer expired); Dixon v. Besco Eng'g Inc., 463 S.E.2d 636, 639 (S.C. App. 1995) (affirming denial of motion to set aside default on grounds defendant failed to show good cause where company employee in charge of responding to the complaint failed to timely retain local counsel and missed the deadline to answer complaint because he erroneously assumed company was given extension to respond).

“Court deadlines and rules ‘serve important social goals, and a party should not be permitted to flout them with impunity.’ Respect for judicial guidelines and judicial economy and efficiency suggest a more stringent interpretation of good cause...” Eli A. Poliakoff, *Setting Aside Entries of Default: South Carolina Should Require a Reason*, 54 S.C. L. Rev. 477, 480.

Here, there is no reasonable explanation as to why the Appellant did not file an answer until one-hundred and seven (107) days after he was served.

Appellant's brief alleges that Appellant's attorneys had obtained an extension to answer. (Appellant Brief, p. 6). Rule 6(b) of the SCRCF requires any enlargement of time to be in writing. There is no evidence of any writing regarding an extension. Indeed, the lawyer from whom the extension was purportedly obtained provided an affidavit to the contrary. (R. pp. 41-42). Therefore, Appellant was in default thirty one (31) days after he was served. Appellant never sought to get out of default from Plaintiff's counsel at any time. This is not good cause.

Appellant's brief alleges that he relied on Mrs. Rose who purportedly told him she was going to drop the case. This is nonsensical based on Appellant's own affidavit. (R. pp. 23-27). In the Affidavit, Appellant goes through a detailed history of all the harms that Respondent has done to him and horrible acts he alleges Respondent committed to harm him. Specifically, the affidavit states that Respondent was unstable psychologically and had been taking psychiatric medication/getting treatment for the past fifteen years (R. p. 27, para. 34). The affidavit also states that Respondent had schemed Appellant with a credit card machine (R. p. 24, para. 13-14) and that she stole vast sums of money from him up to half a million dollars by transferring or secreting funds from their accounts. (R. p. 24, para. 13-14). Based on all of this, Appellant admitted that he did not have a clear understanding of whether or not Respondent was going to drop the case. (R. p. 50, lines 17-22). Combining this admission with the foregoing history of a volatile relationship, there was no reasonable reliance by Appellant on any purported statement made by Respondent and therefore no misrepresentation or fraud.

In the absence of a clear understanding, the diligent party takes action to protect its interests, particularly if involved in divorce litigation with the party in whom reliance is supposedly placed. Appellant took no such action, made no written confirmation that Respondent was dropping the case, made no contact to Respondent's counsel, and despite having years of knowledge of the court system, made no review of the Court's file. A trip to the clerk's office would have revealed that Respondent had filed a motion for default and request for damages hearing. No, Appellant did not do any of those things. In sum, Appellant did not do anything at all to support an argument for good cause.

In the absence of “good cause” for failure to timely respond to the Summons and Complaint, South Carolina law makes it clear that a motion to set aside an entry of default must be denied. Here, there was no evidence of “good cause” and the trial court properly exercised its sole discretion in reaching this conclusion.

b. The Wham factors support the decision of the lower court holding Appellant in default.

Even assuming Appellant had somehow shown “good cause” for the default, the following relevant factors weigh in favor of the lower court’s finding of default: “(1) the timing of the defendant’s motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted.” Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc., 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501–02 (Ct.App.1989).

As to the timing, Appellant’s motion for relief from default was filed by the Clerk of Court on January 20, 2015, one hundred and seven (107) days after Appellant was served with the Complaint. Appellant had missed the S.C.R.Civ.P. 12(a) deadline to answer the suit papers by forty (40) days at the time default was sought by the Plaintiffs on December 19, 2014. (R. p. 12). Likewise, Appellant waited until one day before a damages hearing was scheduled to be heard before filing their motion. These are all facts that weigh heavily in support of the discretion the lower court exercised in denying the motion to set aside default.

Appellant has failed to set forth any facts demonstrating he has a meritorious defense. As discussed above, Respondent went to great lengths to support her claim; calling several witnesses including the only eye witness and an expert psychologist to establish PTSD from the attack by Appellant. Maybe the best evidence illustrating a lack

of a meritorious defense is from Appellant, however. Specifically, Appellant's own Facebook page includes a picture that states: "I'm wondering how much jail time I would get for knocking the stupid out of someone." Subsequent to the attack on Plaintiff on September 14, 2014, Appellant responded with a comment: "None...I tried it." (R. p. 241). As noted above, Appellant never took the stand in order to preserve his 5th Amendment right against self-incrimination. (R. p. 212). Under such circumstances, the lower court judge was obligated to draw an adverse inference against Appellant as the South Carolina Court of Appeals has reversed a trial judge for failing draw such an inference against a party invoking the Fifth Amendment privilege. Griffith v. Griffith, 506 S.E.2d 526, 532 (S.C. App. 1998). Add to this the audio recording of the attack by Appellant, the pictures of Respondent's injuries, the eye-witness testimony corroborating Respondent's version of the attack, the history of violence by Appellant shown in his text messages and prior divorce based on Appellant's physical cruelty, and there is no meritorious defense. (R. pp. 224-235, pp. 236-240, and pp. 242-245).

Respondent filed suit in the instant case on October 2, 2014, shortly after experiencing the complained-of injuries. (R. pp. 8-10). We are past the one year anniversary of the date suit was filed. During the over 365 days that have passed since suit was filed, Respondent has been denied appropriate funds from Appellant to address the mental health damages Appellant caused. To set aside the entry of default at this juncture would add significant time to what has already amounted to a very long wait for the Respondent. During this wait, Respondent has undergone what treatment she can afford and met with specialists but still lacks the funds to obtain the treatment that will be required.

A longer delay would also prejudice the Respondent in the discovery process. It is undisputed that the longer a case is delayed the more difficult it becomes to find documents, secure witnesses with a clear memory of the event, and properly litigate a case through discovery. The undue delay caused solely by the Appellant has the significant threat of prejudicing the Respondent, who will likely not be able to obtain the same discovery she would have a year ago.

c. Authority cited by Appellant is inapposite to the case at bar.